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ABSTRACT

A HISTORY OF THE SCHOOL OF MUSIC AT MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY
By

Jean H. Fickett

The purpose of this study was to trace the history of the School of Music
at Michigan State University from the founding of Michigan Agricultural College
to the present, with special emphasis on the years from 1950 to 2003. The
School of Music has traditionally been very strong in terms of education and
outreach, and research in music has become increasingly important in the
recent years.

Information is presented chronologically, and after a discussion of the
early years, it has been divided into chapters describing what was
accomplished under successive department heads. A number of appendices
have been provided, including milestones, a chronological list of professors,
and a list of ensembles and their conductors. Tables of School of Music recitals,
the increasing number of interational students since 1975, and enroliment
and graduation statistics are given. Another appendix lists awards and
scholarships available to music students, and another lists special honors.

A number of threads are evident throughout the history. First is the
consistent focus on teaching, outreach, and later research. Next are the
numerous achievements of the school in spite of limited rrioney and the
continual need for facilities. The growth in the numbers of intemational students
has been dramatic. Many of the faculty over the years have devoted their whole

careers to the students at Michigan State.
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CHAPTER ONE
RESEARCH BACKGROUND
Introduction

I have written a history of the School of Music at Michigan State
University. As a 1954 graduate of Michigan State College in music education, |
have been interested in the evolution of the School of Music. Although it would
be possible to research only music education history, the Music Educators
National Conference (MENC) has stressed musicianship equally with teaching
skills. The total music experience is a gestalt, not easily separated into atomistic
pieces. After spending a lifetime in music education, | have looked at music at
Michigan State through a music educator’s eyes, but because we are
influenced deeply by those around us and because all students experience a
portion of the curriculum in common, it seems appropriate to consider the whole
School of Music.

| became interested in doing this project on retuming to Michigan State
after a 41 year career in music, mostly in the eastemn United States. In 1954
most of the students in the School of Music were in music education, with a few
performance majors, a handful of theory majors, no jazz program, a small music
therapy program, and no musicology majors. There were a few graduate
students, but few, if any, international students. All of us fit into the 350-seat
music auditorium for our required attendance at weekly recitals with room to
spare. There are over twice as many music majors now. Today many students
at every level are performance majors, with a dramatic rise in intemational
students. There is a flourishing jazz program, with a brand new major; theory
and composition are attracting students, and music therapy has a significant

number of students. Music education students are the most numerous at the






undergraduate level, with 158 in the fall of 2002, followed by 90 performance
majors, 38 therapy majors, 26 working toward a Bachelor of Arts in Music, 8
theory and composition majors, 9 jazz majors, and 9 undeclared, for a total of
338 undergraduates.' Undeclared majors are freshmen, who have not yet
decided on their primary focus, but will do so before their junior year. Those
working on a Bachelor of Arts degree are those who neither want public school
certification nor performance, yet still are most interested in music. At the
graduate level there were 145 performance majors, followed by 24 music
education majors, 30 in conducting, seven in composition, six in music therapy,
five in theory, six in musicology, and two in pedagogy, totaling 231 graduate
students. Seventy four faculty members are assisted by eight secretaries, two
piano technicians, one recording technician, and one publicist. Sixty graduate
students have quarter-time assistantships (c.10 hours per week).
Need for the Study

There are several compelling reasons for doing this study. First, it has
never been done in dissertation format. Doing it as a dissertation would insure
that the information would not be lost and would be accessible to anyone
interested. The only historical study of the total department, by Wilson Paul
(1979), director of the Michigan State Lecture-Concert Series for many years, is
unpublished and virtually unknown. There are a few mimeographed copies in
existence. James Forger, director of the School of Music, has one, as does
Kenneth Bloomquist, former director. University Archives also has a copy, but to
retrieve it the researcher must know it is unpublished, since it is filed with
unpublished materials rather than with School of Music materials.

Second, information about the School of Music is scattered in different

places in the university: for example, University Archives in Conrad Hall; the
' HEADS report, 2002-2003.
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Main Library; the Music Buildings; the Intemational Center; the Alumni
Association offices in the Union; the Hannah Administration Building; and
Special Collections. There is information on the computer system as well. Much
information was discovered by reading general university documents, like
catalogues and graduation programs, because it is not available separately.

Third, there are many professors who served during the last 50 years still
living, who can contribute personal insights to the study. If this pool of
information is not tapped now, it may be lost forever.

Wilson Paul’'s Music at Michigan State (1979) includes research up to
about 1975, with the time from 1975 to 1979 spent in writing. Thus there has
been a 25-year period that has not been compiled at all. Professor Emeritus
Kenneth Bloomquist, former MSU band director and director of the School of
Music, planned to update Wilson Paul's work with Professor Emeritus Edgar
Kirk, former bassoon and theory professor and Associate Director for Graduate
Studies. They passed the information that they had collected on to me,
contributing a great deal to this dissertation. Also, according to Professor
Bloomquist, Professor Emeritus H. Owen Reed, former chair of Theory and
Composition, is encouraging emeritus faculty to donate their memoribilia to
University Archives, as he has done. Beryl Falcone, wife of long-time MSU band
director Leonard Falcone, has donated the Leonard Falcone Papers, 1916-
1985, which is available in Archives. The H. Owen Reed Collection has been
catalogued in the Music Library (4 West, Main Library) by Mary Black, music
librarian, and her workers, and is housed in Special Collections in the Main
Library.

Historical research does not occupy a major place in music education,

but it is interesting that a number of similar dissertations have been written on
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various schools of music. George Heller (1995) lists 42 studies in Historical
Research in Music Education: A Bibliography. Allen Britton, (1984), a past
president of the Music Educators National Conference (MENC), feels that since
much research is done in graduate schools, and since much of that is
experimental, graduate schools should change their focus and require more
historical research. “There should be a preponderance of historical studies, |
think, because such studies are best calculated, in my opinion, to bring
understanding and wisdom to those who will be the leaders of our
profession”(p.56). He says that to know the methodologies of the past is to avoid
re-inventing them.

Knowing the history and traditions of an institution is a means of either
developing pride or motivating change, depending on the course taken. The
Spartan Marching Band publishes its history every year for new band members
to leam. Curiously, it is the only MSU musical organization to have recorded its
history. John Madden, current director, uses history to help foster the pride and
discipline necessary to keep the MSU marching band functioning at an
extremely high level. It is my hope to similarly foster pride in the rest of the
School of Music, for students, teachers, and alumni. | started this project feeling
that | had received a good education at Michigan State that had served me well
as a music teacher. My research has caused me to realize that there are far
more things to be proud of than | originally realized.

Purpose and Problems

The purpose of this study is to trace the history of the School of Music at
Michigan State University from the founding of the college to the present. Since
the span is nearly 150 years, the early years will be presented in abbreviated

form, but the original mission of the college is still important today and needs to
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be reiterated.

Michigan became a state in 1837 and that year the Legislature created
the University of Michigan. The University served people in aimost every field,
except the scientific teaching of agriculture, in a state where ninety percent of
the population at the time was engaged in agriculture. In 1849 the State
Agricultural Society was formed, and in 1850 it petitioned the State Legislature
for an agricultural college. The legislature then petitioned the Congress of the
United States for a grant of 350,000 acres to foster agricultural education in
Michigan. Also in 1850 the Constitution of the State of Michigan was revised,
and this included a provision to establish an agricultural college. This was done
before the United States Congress responded. Both the University of Michigan
and Michigan State Normal College (now Eastern Michigan University) wanted
the new school, but it was finally deemed preferable to establish it at an
independent site.

Michigan Agricultural College (MAC) was legally established in 1855, but
the first students did not arrive until 1857. In the meantime Justin Morrill,
congressman from Vermont, wrote a bill to provide financial help for MAC, as
well as for every other state in the union, for the establishment of land-grant
colleges. President Buchanan vetoed the bill, so Morrill held it until the
administration changed. After he became a senator, he resubmitted the bill,
which passed both houses and was signed into law by President Abraham
Lincoln. The Morrill Land Grant Act of 1862 was the direct result of the Michigan
petition to Congress on behalf of agricultural education. Morrill's dream was to
establish in each state at least one college “where the leading object shall be,
without excluding other scientific and classical studies and including military

tactics, to teach such branches of leaming as are related to agriculture and the
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mechanic arts in order to promote the liberal and practical education of the
industrial classes in the several pursuits and professions in life”(Blair and Kuhn,
1955, p. 35).

The original mission of MAC was to educate the farmers of the state in a
four-year program and to provide outreach and support services to the
communities of the state. The first few years were financially difficult, and in
1860 the State Board of Education, who then governed the college, cut the
program back to two years. The State Agricultural Society protested to the
Legislature, which restored the four-year program and created in 1861 the State
Board of Agriculture to govern the college.

The Morrill Land-Grant Act, which was based on the MAC model, placed
funding on a firmer foundation and allowed research to be added to the
mission. The three-part mission of education, outreach, and research is equally
important today and has been important throughout the growth of the university.
| knew that outreach was important, since an outreach activity, the Summer
Youth Music program for high school students, brought me to Michigan State as
a teenager, but | did not understand the role of research. Knowing this history
has broadened my understanding of research and seems important to
communicate to those who read this dissertation.

The problems are as follows:

1. To document important dates in University and School of Music history.

2. To document types of majors and degrees, when they were established, and
what they entailed.

3. To document the composition of the student body regarding majors,
including the rise in the numbers of international students.

4. To document significant changes in programs.

6
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5. To document those who have taught here.
6. To document outreach activities that have impacted the student body and
the curriculum.
7. To record musicians and activities that have been brought to the campus to
enrich the lives of students.
8. To interview teachers, emeritus faculty, and graduates over the years to
leamn their insights into educational processes and historical events.
Limitations
This study does not include any attempt to trace the finances of the
School of Music other than by including random facts when they are available.
The largest limitation is the knowledge that some information is not complete,
particularly the list of professors. Those who were here a very short time, who
were sabbatical replacements, or who were part-time employees may have
been missed. | decided not to include sabbatical replacements of short duration
(less than a year), but some may have been included because | could not find
confirmation of their purpose. There are other instances where information is
not available for a particular year. The fact that storage space in the Music
Building is very limited has meant that some things were not saved. Having
information scattered all over campus, from University Archives, the Main
Library, the Music Buildings, the Intemational Center, the College of Arts and
Letters, and the Hannah Administration Building, made tracking difficuit.
Hopefully all aspects have been covered adequately. This study is

chronological and descriptive in nature.




CHAPTER TWO
RELATED LITERATURE

Three different kinds of material have been consulted for this review of
literature: (a) techniques for historical research, (b) dissertations describing
other college or university music departments, and (c) information about the
School of Music at Michigan State University.

The following books on historical research were consulted: Research in
Music Education by Rainbow and Froelich (1987); The Handbook on Research
on Music Teaching and Leaming (1992), Richard Colwell, editor, which
included chapters entitled “A History of Music Education Research” by Michael
Mark and“Historical Research” by Heller and Wilson. Others were: Qualitative
Research Methods for the Social Sciences (1998) by B. L. Berg; E. Gordon’s
Designing Objective Research in Music Education (1986); and Heller's
Historical Research in Music Education: a Bibliography (1995). Heller and
Wilson's “Historical Research” was very useful, since it described in detail how
to do historical research. Topics included “Choosing a Topic,” “Building a
Bibliography,” “Gathering the Evidence,” “Verifying the Sources,” and “Overall
Design,” among others. The paragraphs on writing a proposal were especially
helpful. Heller's bibliography provided the sources for the dissertations read.

A number of articles were consulted. George N. Heller, editor of the
Bulletin of Historical Research in Music Education, has written several articles:
“Historical Research: A Qualitative Perspective,” in the Bulletin of the Council for
Research in Music Education (CRME)(1996), and “Historical Research in Music
Education: a Prolegomenon” in the Bulletin of the Council for Research in
Music Education (1982), with Bruce Wilson. The authors reported that when the
Joumal of Research in Music Education (JRME) was edited by Allen Britton,

8




from 1952 to 1972, 10 of 38 articles involved historical research, but between
1976 and 1979 there were none, and subscriptions fell off.

Edgar M. Turrentine wrote “Historical Research in Music Education”
(1973) in the Bulletin of the Council for Research in Music Education.
Turrentine says: “The raison d'etre for historical research in education has
been succinctly stated by R. Freeman Butts and Lawrence A. Cremin: [A History
of Education in American Culture]

...to help educators understand what their present problems are,

how the problems have arisen, what the advantages and dangers

of the past have been, what forces from the past are still at work in

the present, and what we have to reckon with as we move into the

future (1953, p. viii).

In other words, one should examine the past in order to make decisions in the
present about the future” (1973, p. 1). Turrentine suggests that each generation
rejects past practices and evolves new jargon, and that any survey of related
literature is historical research. The Turrentine article and the Heller and Wilson
article in the Colwell book are necessary reading for the historical researcher.

Heller (1995) lists 42 studies of schools of music in Historical Research in
Music Education: A Bibliography. Some are master’s theses, some are histories
of conservatories, and some are histories of programs in institutions
comparable to Michigan State. | read Music Education in Texas Higher
Institutions, 1840-1947 (1951) by Roy Jefferson; The History of the Crane
Department of Music, (1965) by William D. Claudsen; A History of the Florida
State University School of Music (1973) by Marilyn Swingle; A Comparison of
the History of the Departments of Music at the University of Toledo, Findlay
College, and Bowling Green State University (1976) by Richard E. Barber; A

9
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History of the Louisiana State University School of Music , 1955-1979 (1983)
by Brenda Gale Williams; and A History of the University of lllinois School of
Music, 1940-1970,(1986) by Albert D. Harrison to leam what others felt was
important and how they organized their material. Later | read College Music on
the Konza Prairie, a history of the music department at Kansas State University,
by Byron W. Jensen, Kansas State University, 1990. Dissertations were
purposely chosen from different geographical areas and from different
perspectives in order to get a broad range of ideas.

The exploration of the music departments of Texas colleges and
universities by Roy Jefferson (1950) was among the most helpful. Jefferson
investigated 15 schools and developed 20 criteria for evaluating the programs
for his dissertation at the University of Texas at Austin. His list of criteria was
helpful for developing the list of topics that were investigated in this paper.
Claudsen (1965) listed a table of milestones of the school. He organized his
paper by administrator, rather than simple chronology, so that chronological
events are linked to the person in charge when the events occurred These two
techniques were utilized here.

Brenda Williams’ (1983) history of the School of Music at Louisiana State
University (LSU) reports on the tenure of Dr. Everett L. Timm, an administrator of
the School of Music from 1955-1979. She investigated faculty, curricula,
enroliment, degrees awarded, facilities, budget, expenditures, performing
groups, performances, and special events. Williams conducted interviews with
past and present students, faculty, and deans, and examined university and
School of Music records and publications. This study is a continuation of an
earlier dissertation on the history of LSU’s School of Music by Charlie Roberts.

Because Williams investigated far fewer years than most, and because the

10
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years were relatively recent, she had access to more data and could go into
subjects in greater depth. With the exception of financial matters, | have used
her topics as a foundation. Williams had problems with gaps in information, but
she offered the most complete list of sources, getting information from the
School of Music, the Office of the President, The Office of Academic Affairs, the
Office of the Comptroller, the Office of the Chancellor, the Office of Institutional
Research, the Office of Public Relations, and the Office of Records and
Registration. This list of sources was particularly useful in presenting ideas of
places for me to search.

Byron Jensen's (1990) dissertation was especially helpful, since it
devoted a whole chapter to the land-grant aspects of Kansas State’s origins.
Since MSU claims to be the first land-grant college, it was interesting to find that
Kansas State also claims to be the first. Both claims are legitimate if one takes
into account the circumstances. Michigan Agricultural College was established
before the Morrill Land-Grant Act (LGA) of 1862, and thus was the impetus and
prototype for the LGA. Kansas State Agricultural College, forerunner of Kansas
State College (KSC) and Kansas State University (KSU), opening on
September 2, 1863, was the first college established after the passing of the bill.
Kansas State was way ahead of Michigan State in recognizing music, since it
had a department of music from the very beginning. Jensen said: “From the
outset, a proviso of the Land-Grant Act directed land-grant institutions to retain
the liberal arts tradition and develop practical curricula in mechanical arts and
agriculture” (1990, p. 6).

Jensen organized the dissertation by administrations, and also included
transcriptions of eight interviews and 14 photographs. | will include as many

photographs as possible. His Table of Contents and Bibliography were also

11
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extremely detailed and useful.

The masters thesis of Marianne Smith, (1983) describing the
development of the music therapy program at MSU, was rich in historical
details. Working for her MA in music therapy at MSU, Smith conducted a
number of interviews with professors and graduates, read extensively about
therapy programs, and included class notes of Roy Underwood, who
established the first music therapy program. Her information on therapy at MSU
and her bibliography were very helpful.

The most helpful aspect of the reading was observing the authors’ use of
appendices and charts to present a tremendous amount of information
efficiently. Each study contributed to my understanding of the process and
helped me to decide what | wanted to include and how to do it.

Regarding Michigan State, Wilson Paul's unpublished history, Music at
Michigan State (1979) covers the years between 1870 and 1975. He did much
research, especially for the early years, and | have used much of his material.
He did not include a bibliography. Madison Kuhn’s Michigan State: the First
Hundred Years (1955) is a fascinating description of the origins of MSU.
Though references to music are few, it contains an excellent desqription of the
partnership of MSC and the Lansing Conservatory (c. 1928-1932). The book
includes many photographs. Blair and Kuhn’s A Short History of Michigan State
(1955) is a condensed version, but includes a time line which was very useful.

The First Three Decades of Home Economics at MSC (1947) by Maude
Gilchrist, Dean of Home Economics, MAC, 1901-1913, was published by the
department as part of the observance of the fiftieth anniversary of the beginning
of home economics at Michigan State. Old Abbot Hall was the first home of the

women’s course. Eventually this became the old music practice building. The
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st Women'’s Building is now Morrill Hall, named after the author of the Land
-ant Act. This small book gives a detailed account of what life was like on
mpus for women and includes the music course that all women were required
take.

Seventy Five Years of Performing Arts at Michigan State, 1912-1987
388), published by the MSU Press, edited by William Luedders, describes the
cture-Concert Series over the years. The years 1912 to 1961 were written by
|son Paul, while the later years were chronicled by Kenneth Beachler. Each
s a head of the Lecture-Concert Series. Photographs of the buildings and
Ny of the performers are included. A list of lecturers and artists is printed for
-h year from 1912 to 1987. Paul and Beachler each present a written history
he main events as well as the programs.

The preparation of teachers at Michigan State University (1968) by Victor
Noll, given to me by Cynthia Taggart, traces the history of the School of
cation, now called the College of Education. Several new facts emerged in
book, as well as confirmation of details from other sources.

The life and work of Leonard Falcone, with emphasis on his years as
ctor of Bands at Michigan State University, 1927 to 1967, is a dissertation
1yron Welch (1973). Welch used Annual Reports of the Secretary of the
= Board of Agriculture, catalogs, bulletins, and yearbooks for his research,
'©ll as interviews with Falcone, Mrs. Falcone, colleagues, and the university
ivist. Falcone was regarded as one of the outstanding artist-teacher-
>rmers of the euphonium, though he considered his band work his most
rtant function. Falcone saw his inability at public relations as his greatest
{Ness, His total dedication to his position and drive for perfection made him

Itstanding role model for his students and the profession (Weich, DAI, 34,
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12, p. 7815).
The Leonard Falcone Papers, 1916-1985, can be found in University

Archives and Historical Collections in Conrad Hall. The collection contains
audio reels, video-tape, movie film, papers, sheet music and photographs as
well as boxes of biographical files, correspondence, concert programs,
rmemoribilia, news clippings, professional papers and scrap books. It also
contains texts or methods Falcone used as teaching aids and complete scores

of all the pieces performed by the MSU band over 40 years.
The H. Owen Reed Collection has been catalogued by Mary Black, music

librarian, and her staff in the Fine Arts Library. It includes scores of all his
compositions and correspondence relating to them. An especially large
segment relates to Michigan Dream, Reed’s opera composed for the Centennial
celebration of MSU in 1955. Programs from every place he conducted and
programs sent to him when his pieces were performed are included. Copies of
the eight books he authored or contributed to are also present. A Christmas
card from Mario Castelnuovo-Tedesco, a composer who was a guest artist at

MSU in 1958-1959, is an example of the memorabilia involved.

Other sources of information are Music Notes, the magazine of the
School of Music, 1977 to the present, Muses, the magazine of the College of
Arts and Letters, recital and concert programs, newsletters from the head of the
department to faculty, staff and graduate students, alumni magazines,
Yearbooks, annual reports when available, commencement bulletins, catalogs
of academic programs and descriptions of courses, faculty listings, MSU fact

books, Registrar’'s Office Statistics, and newspaper articles. A number of people

have also been interviewed.
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CHAPTER THREE
PROCEDURE

After receiving permission from Kenneth Bloomquist and Edgar Kirk to
take over their project of updating the history of the music department and
talking to James Forger about the plans, | searched the catalog of the Main
. L_ibrary. Much information about MSU is housed on the fourth floor East, where
course books, catalogs, commencement programs, Madison Kuhn'’s books, and
news clippings are located. Next, James Forger provided a copy of Wilson
Paul's Music at Michigan State, an unpublished manuscript finished in 1979.
He also gave permission to inspect material housed in the music building.
While personnel files were unavailable, everything else was open. There were
programs from many years of concerts, though some years were missing.
Publicity, minutes of department meetings, and newsletters for about 20 years
were available as well.

The application for permission to interview people was sent to the
University Committee for Research on Human Subjects (UCRIHS), along with
letters of approach to emeritus professors, current professors, professors who
were also alumni, and former students. (See Appendix A.) When permission
was granted by UCRIHS, letters were sent to potential sources of interviews,
along with a self-addressed, stamped envelope. After the forms were retumed,
interviews began. The original intent was to tape record the interviews, but after

Much technical trouble, the taping was abandoned. In retrospect, it would have

been better to have all interviews taped.
Linda Dunn, then the publicist for the music school, provided copies of

Musijc Notes, a newsletter sent to alumni for a number of years. The office of the

Col lege of Ars and Letters provided copies of Muses, a similar publication from

15



the College of Arts and Letters.
University Archives yielded much information. Since Archives has

duplicates of the books previously cited in the Main Library, tables and charts
wvere begun there, in order to have hard information in as concise a form as
possible. The first table completed was the list of professors, when they were at
M SU, and what they taught. This was done both alphabetically and
chronologically. Then the list was separated into smaller lists: Heads of the
Music Department, Voice, String, Woodwind, Brass, Percussion, Piano,
Ensemble Conductors, Music Education, Music Theory, Composition, Music
Therapy, Musicology, and miscellaneous faculty or staff.

The following Archive records were consulted: The Lewis Richards
Collection, the Leonard Falcone Collection, maps of the University at different
times, everything filed under UA 16.86 School of Music, UA 15.9.3 Lecture-
Concern Series, and UA 16.34 Cooperative Extension Service Records.
Nowhere in either Music Department or Cooperative Extension Service
Records were the names of the music extension workers listed. (See Appendix
X.) Miles (1964) listed names and salaries, but this could not be confirmed.
Finally Margaret Dionese, in Academic Personnel Records, found the original
Agriculture Board record, proving that Miles was hired at a handsome salary for
her time.

Next a table of University and Music Department milestones was
Compiled, following the example of Blair and Kuhn (1955) and Claudsen
(1965). The Office of Asian Studies in the Intemational Center yielded
information on Asian students over the years. Interestingly enough, this
informartion has not been available for the last few years. Staff cutbacks have

Made it impossible to get to this task, according to an office worker.
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Much time was spent trying to make a table of graduates of the music
department: how many each year, in what musical field (i.e. performance,
education, therapy, theory, musicology), and what degree granted: bachelor’s,
rnaster’s, or doctorate. This was started in the office of the Information Officer of
the School of Music, first Linda Dunn, then Kathy Walsh, and now Jill
M acMillan. The Alumni Office sends a list of graduates to each respective
school or department each year. It did not take long to discover that this list
would not be too helpful, at least for the early days, because frequently people
were listed in the wrong field.? Thus information from graduation programs from
the various years was compliled instead. These programs were the source of
the final product, although the information is not entirely accurate. Some
graduates were listed in more than one graduation program, and it is possible
that sdme are not listed at all.

Mary Black, the music librarian at the Main Library, gave several
suggestions at the beginning of the research. However, in the summer of 2000,
she began giving sources that had not been discovered previously. Part of the
pProcess is to learn enough about the subject to ask the correct questions. Once
the right questions were asked, much more information was forthcoming. Black
allowed me to see her postcard collection and to photograph a few for this
dissertation. She also allowed the viewing of the H. Owen Reed Collection,
évern though it was in the process of being catalogued. She suggested other
NAarmes and books as well.

A similar situation occurred with Kathy Walsh, Information Officer of the
School of Music, who let me investigate alumni records, clippings, photos, and
oher material in her office. Gaps in information were filled from her files as well.

She also referred several e-mails. She had written a story referring to this

T -~
lwas listed as a theory major, instead of music education, for example.
17
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project for Music Notes, 1999, and the e-mails were the result of that article. This

was how | leamed the story about the adoption of MSU Shadows as the alma

mmater.
During all this time, interviews, over 40 in all, were conducted. Each

person interviewed had a unique perspective on events that cannot be gained
by reading a generic account. Conducting the interviews was fun and gave life
to the other less interesting aspects of the research. Each person was asked
who his or her most influential teachers were and if there were any significant
events that should be mentioned. Thus the interviews with former students are
focused on teachers who made a difference.

James Forger, head of the School of Music, told of a family who was
planning to donate its collection of old music department documents. Dr. and
Mrs. David Johnson, of East Lansing, had a number of documents of interest.
Mirss. Johnson'’s father, Robert Coleman, was the business manager of the
Michigan State Institute of Music and Allied Arts, which was the merger of the
MSC music department with the Lansing Conservatory of Music in 1928. Lewis
Richards, head of the Music Department and the Institute, was appointed
American director of the Salzburg Mozarteum for the summer of 1932, and took

a group of people from the Institute, including the Colemans, to Austria to study.

The Johnsons’ memorabilia are from that trip.
In the spring of 2001, Mary Cotton, Office Manager for the School of

Music, transferred to Archeology, and the restructuring of the office resulted in
all the old records, which had been jammed into two practice rooms for years,
being moved into a larger space, Room 24 MB. Several student office workers
had sStopped working due to illness, so | was hired to fill in. The job of organizing

the oid records, cataloging what was there, and discarding what could be
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discarded, became mine. After asking for years if there were old records around
and getting nowhere, | discovered annual reports and staff meeting minutes for
all the Roy Underwood years (1940-1957) and annual reports for many more
years after that. As a result, this dissertation is much more complete and much
more accurate than it would have been had it been written earlier.

In the meantime it was also necessary to work on a chronology of
conductors of all the various ensembles. Though the main ensembles are
conducted by professors in the School of Music, many ensembles are
conducted by graduate students in conducting, and records of these had not
been kept. However, each ensemble has kept programs of their concerts.
Ensembles directed by graduate students were discovered by going through

old programs. When all the tables were completed, it then became possible to

begin writing text for succeeding chapters in an organized way.
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CHAPTER FOUR
THE EARLY YEARS

In 1837 the Michigan Territory became a state. The Legislature passed a
law establishing a state university, which was entitled to a Congressional grant
of 72 square miles of land, or almost 50,000 acres. This became the University
of Michigan, located in Ann Arbor. It was directed to establish branches at other
places, where there should be departments of agriculture. Instead, the
University Regents established preparatory schools. E. H. Lothrop, orator for the
first State Fair in 1849, pointed out that four-fifths of the state’s children would
be farmers, yet there was no place where they could study farming or
agriculture. There were nearly 200 colleges in America, but none taught
agriculture, and few taught more than elementary chemistry or biology. The
State Agricultural Society, founded in 1849, lobbied successfully for an
agricultural college.

In 1850 the Constitution of the State of Michigan was revised, including a
provision to establish an agricultural college. The Legislature then petitioned
the Congress of the United States for a grant of 350,000 acres to foster
agricultural education. Both the University of Michigan and the Michigan State
Normal College in Ypsilanti, the teachers’ college, wanted and fought over the
agricultural school, but it was ultimately decided that an independent site would
be better. OF the nine parcels of land offered for the college, the present location
in East Lansing was the one selected, since it was close to a new plank road
from Detroit (Kuhn,1955, pp.1-6).

Michigan Agricultural College was legally established in 1855 and
opened with 63 students in 1857. There were three buildings: a classroom

building, g dormitory, and a barn-workshop. Madison Kuhn’s Michigan State:

20



The First Hundred Years (1955) gives a fascinating description of all the
circumstances involved in the founding of the college. The State Board of
Education was to administer the school, but when it decided to change to a two
year program, the State Agricultural Society protested to the Legislature, which
then transferred administration of the school to the State Board of Agriculture.

In the meantime, the petition to Congress was debated but not acted
upon, and soon Congressman Justin B. Morrill of Vermont presented a bill
known as the Morrill Land-Grant Act. Morrill was impressed by the MAC model
and decided that every state should be granted land by the federal government
for an agricultural school. When the bill first passed, President Buchanan
refused to sign it. Morrill waited for a new president, and in 1862 Abraham
Lincoln signed the bill into law. By this time Morrill was a senator. Michigan
Agricultural College (MAC) was the prototype for Morrill’s bill, and he is
commemorated on campus with Morrill Hall. Since the grant was based on the
MAC model, Michigan State claims to be the first land-grant college, though in
fact it was established before the Morrill Act. Kansas State also claims to be the
first land-grant college and was the first college established after the act was
passed.

Morrill’s dream was to establish in each state at least one college “where
the leading object shall be, without excluding other scientific and classical
Studies and including military tactics, to teach such branches of leaming as are
related to agriculture and the mechanic arts in order to promote the liberal and
Practical ©ducation of the industrial classes in the several pursuits and
Professions in life” (Blair and Kuhn, 1955, p. 12). The original mission of
Michigan Agricultural College (MAC) was to educate the farmers of the state

and to Provide outreach and support services to the communities of the state.
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The Morrill grant was especially valuable in Michigan, since the quarter
million acres allowed could be selected from the millions of acres of federal
land still unsold in Michigan. The land selected was in the form of an inverted V,
with its apex at Cheboygan and its sides at Tawas and Manistee. Money
realized from the sale of this land was used to support the college. The Morrill
Act helped funding and allowed research to be added to the original mission of
education and outreach.

The Civil War had a large impact on the school. The first graduating class
enlisted as a body in September, 1861, two months before commencement. By
1863 the Legislature created a military department at the college.

Since MAC was the first college of its kind, its curriculum had to be built
from scratch. One of the more interesting facets of the school was an early “work
study” program. Each student spent three hours a day working: felling trees,
clearing land, cleaning the bam, or whatever was necessary, hopefully to apply
lessons learned in the classroom to the real world (Kuhn,1955, p.37). In an
announcement issued December 10, 1857 by the Secretary of the State Board
of Education, the following items appear:

1. Applicants for admission as pupils must have attained the age of 14 years,
and must have acquired a good primary education. (The latter was determined
by examinations in arithmetic, geography, grammar, reading, speliing and
Peénmanship.)
2. Every student will be required to devote a portion of each day to manual
labor, for which he will be entitled to receive an equitable remuneration (Noll,
1968, p.3). (Students were paid from 5 to 10 cents an hour.)

In 1870 ten women were admitted to MAC in the agricultural program.

The University of Michigan admitted one woman that year (Kuhn, 1955, p.122).
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In that same year, Ransom Brooks, a student home from the Civil War, started a
Comet Band and a drill unit. As early as 1877, students had choir practice on
Sunday momings in preparation for church, which was held on campus,
Lansing and Okemos being too far away.

By 1888 spontaneous musical groups had emerged as regular student
activities. Students organized and supported the following seven musical
groups on campus when enroliment was only 312 students (Paul, 1979, p. 3):
1. Robert Stanley led a small college choir of a soprano, tenor, 2 basses

and organist.

2. The College Quartette had two tenors and two basses.

3. The College Glee Club had 16 men.

4. The Mandolin Club had a mandolin, zither and two guitars.

5. The String Band had five banjos and five guitars.

6. The College Band, led by I. E. Hill, the first comet, had nineteen

members, including the drum major.

7. The Orchestra, led by F. H. Hillman, first violin, had two first violins, two
second violins, two comets, a bass viol, and a clarinet.

In 1896 President Jonathan Snyder took office and said: “Without music
a home is not a home, so we will require that the girls who come to our college
to take a Home Economics course shall have two years of free classes in
Piano..."(Paul, 1979, p. 4). Art could be substituted for piano lessons. This was
the beginning of the Home Economics Course for women. Maud Skidmore
Marshall was appointed first head of Music, Instrumental. She was the first
facuny member in music, and piano lessons were the first credit course in
Music. Students could elect four years of music, receiving instruction in sight

réading, theory, and history along with piano.
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By 1900 choral work became part of the Woman’s Course, but men could
join. The new Woman'’s Building, now Morrill Hall, housed 60 women and staff.
The building included several piano practice rooms and a large parlor with a
Steinway grand piano. In 1902 Maud Marshall presented H. M. S. Pinafore by
Gilbert and Sullivan, the first major musical production by the MAC Chorus.
Marshall left that year when her husband went to Massachusetts Agricultural
College, and Miss Louise Freyhofer took over. Freyhofer taught piano but also
prepared choruses to present cantatas and oratorios. This led to the
establishment of a May Festival in 1904, during which Parts | and Il of Haydn’s
Creation were presented in the Armory. In 1907 President Theodore Roosevelt
attended the Semicentennial Celebration. The chorus performed
Mendelssohn'’s Elijah for this event. The college also adopted an Alma Mater,
with words by Secretary of the College A. M. Brown, set to the tune of the
Comell Aima Mater.

Close beside the winding Cedar’s sloping banks of green,
Spreads thy campus, Aima Mater, fairest ever seen.

Swell the chorus! Let it echo over hill and vale;

Hail to thee, our loving mother, M.A.C., all hail.

East Lansing was incorporated as a city in 1907, but it had already
existed as Collegeville for 20 years. The majority of the 800 residents were
employed by the college. Street names perpetuate the memories of Presidents
Abbot, Snyder, and Butterfield, and of Professors Beal, Kedzie, Bailey, Durand,
Marshal, Bogue, and Baldwin. To protect the morals of the students, the Charter
said it was “illegal to manufacture, sell, keep for sale, give away, or fumish any

vinous, mal, brewed, fermented, spiritous or intoxicating liquors” (Kuhn, 1955,
P. 254).
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In 1908 Earle Killeen came from Ann Arbor once a week to conduct the
chorus, and in 1910 Earle’s brother Fred replaced him to conduct chorus and
glee club, teach voice, and direct the May Festival. In spite of all he did, he was
not considered faculty. Grace Scott was hired as instructor in music. Officially
the music department was part of the Woman'’s Division with two instructors,
Freyhofer and Scott. The band was in the military department.

In 1912 the governing board of MAC authorized a blanket tax of six
dollars per student per year for student activities. Five dollars was for athletics
and one dollar for the liberal arts (Luedders, ed.,1988, p. 7). The Liberal Arts
Council scheduled five lectures and appropriated $100 for a winter concert and
$400 for a May Festival of music to be held in the Armory. The subsidy allowed
the directors of the May Festival, A. J. Patton and Fred Killeen, to hire
professional soloists to supplement the student choruses. The Armory was on
the site of the current Music Building and held 700 chairs. The Liberal Arts
Council sponsored cultural events on campus until 1925, when its name was
changed to Michigan State College Artists Course.

In 1911 Professor Bruce E. Hartsuch of the Chemistry Department and
Fred Killeen organ'ized the Mens Glee Club with 18 members. Mabel Leffler
replaced Grace Scott. Killeen's chorus of 175, all the members of all the
choruses, with a 20-piece M.A.C. orchestra presented Haydn’s Creation for the
11th May Festival in 1914. Men’s Glee Club became very popular and toured in
the springs of 1913, 1914, and 1915. Killeen was so busy that A. J. Clark of the
Chemistry Department, who was already directing the band, took over the
Orchestra as well. In 1916 Fred Killeen left Lansing. Fred Abel of Detroit was
hired as director of band, chorus, and glee club. His salary was budgeted under

Mlscellaneous, since there was still no department of music. Abel was a cellist,
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but orchestra was not part of his assignment.

In 1917 F. |. Lankey wrote the Fight Song, which became the official
College Song in 1919, after Lankey’s death in an airplane crash. Below are
printed the original words as well as the current version. There was also at least
one intermediate version, sung in the fifties when MSU was still MSC, and there
may have been others.

On the banks of the Red Cedar, there's a college known to all;
Their specialty is farming, but the farmers play football.

Aggie teams are never beaten, all through the game they fight.
Fighting for the only colors, green and white.

Smash right through that line of blue,

Watch that score keep growing,

Aggie teams are sure to win,

They're fighting with a vim, rah, rah, rah!

Michigan is weakening, we're going to win this game;

Fight! Fight! Rah, team, fight! Victory for MAC. (Original words).

On the banks of the Red Cedar is a school that's known to all;
It's speciality is winning, and the Spartans play gooﬁ ball;
Spartan teams are never beaten, all through the game they fight;
Fight for the only colors, green and white.

Go right through for M.S.U., watch the points keep growing.
Spartan teams are bound to win,

They're fighting with a vim, rah, rah, rah!

See their team is weakening, we're going to win this game.

Fight! Fight! Rah, team, fight! Victory for MSU. (Words adopted
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the 1970s.)

In 1916 there were only four divisions at MAC: agriculture, engineering,
home economics, and veterinary medicine (Hill, 1968, p. 2). The Engineering
building bumed in March, 1916, and the fate of the department hung by a
thread. Rooms for classes to meet were found all over campus as well as in
Lansing’s Municipal Light Plant. Because of the lack of normal facilities and
equipment, Professor Victor T. Wilson said that “equipment does not make a
college: it is teachers and a condition of intelligent understanding between

students and teachers”(Kuhn, 1955, pp. 267-268).

World War | had a large impact on the band. Previously freshmen and
sophomores had been allowed to substitute band for military credit. The war
forced all male students into the Reserve Officers Training Corps (ROTC), thus
dooming the band. Faculty and students agreed to pay band members $25.00 a
year to stay in band (Paul, 1979, p.35). Even so, the band’s activities were
much curtailed. There were no women in the band. At the 1918
commencement, the whole musical program was performed by the Girls’ Glee
Club.

In the fall of 1918, chemistry professor A. J. Clark again became director
of the Band, plus Chorus, Orchestra, and Glee Club. An influenza epidemic
disrupted the entire campus that fall.> Only the women and faculty were not
quarantined. The band did play at the Michigan football game on November 22.
The ending of the war also disrupted the campus. The Student Army Training
Cormps was disbanded and the officers transferred elsewhere, thus depleting the
student enroliment, which went from 2000 in 1915 to 800 in January 1919, with

a third being women. The band was reorganized with 25 members and

? Theliﬂﬂuenza epidemic was worldwide and killed 20 to 40 million people, one fifth of the world
Population.
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rehearsed in a band room in the gym. By spring term it had moved into new
quarters in the Armory, where it remained until the completion of the Music
Building in 1939. The gym involved was the gym on West Circle Drive, which
became the Women'’s Gym and is now the Intra-Mural Building, Circle Drive,
known as |-M Circle.

In 1919 the State Board of Agriculture appointed Professor John Siebert
Taylor Director of Music for the college. In that year, required piano lessons for
freshmen and sophomore women were dropped, and Louise Freyhofer
resigned to teach privately at home (Gilchrist, 1947, p. 31). College credit was
still granted to college students who continued to study with her. Taylor's
mission was to create a “singing college as well as a yelling college” (Paul,
1979, p. 46). Taylor felt that the students yelled their songs instead of singing
them. He wrote a book of songs designed for MAC and wrote a college song,
“Song of the Aggies,” as well.

The MAC Record reported that a college orchestra would soon be
organized by Taylor, and the band, glee clubs and musical union would be

reorganized. There was a prospect of a permanent music department. The
offices would be located in the gym at the right of the entrance. The musical
course offerings did not change. Seven courses were offered for one credit
each: voice, piano, harmony, advanced harmony, ear training, music
appreciation, and chorus (Paul, 1979, p. 47). Band was still in the military
department. Taylor was successful enough that the Board of Agriculture passed
a resolution in 1920 that a Department of Music be created, with a budget of
$560 (Paul, 1979, p. 50). Courses could now be offered for credit to all students,
not just women. A high school band toumament was planned as a recruitment

tool, but it did not occur until 1924. The Board of Agriculture appropriated $3000

28




e

R
o
o

ianes
.o n

amr

LTS

v

\ev o

Ral



to the military department for band uniforms. These were khaki serge with
officers’ caps and spiral leggings. Cords of green and white distinguished the
band from regular military officers. During the 1920-21 season the music
department was located in a former house on campus that had been remodeled
and was known as the “Music Center” (Paul, 1979, p. 59). The band continued
to play at football games and parades. A Clown Band was established during

the fall of 1921. Taylor organized an orchestra of 23 members, which played at

the 1922 commencement.

Music CENTER

Figure 1. 1922 Wolverine, yearbook of MAC. Music Center
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Williams, Luther, Toas, H. Edwards, Baynes
Fritz, Laufior, Balr, rds, Menge
Skellenger, Hartsell, CI "Abplin, Minshall
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J. Siebert Taylor
H.'R. Clark

First TENORS

E. Skellenger
K. W. Toaz
Seconp Texoks
H. R. Clark
S.E. Hartsell
J. M. Luther

G. C Williams

Director
Busincss Manager

BaritoNes

S. M. Bair
H W. Edwards
L. W. Kraft

TR Monsan
Basses
H. Applin
S. Edwards
1. G. Lauffer
G. N. Swanson

R
I
I

Pror. A, J. CLaRK

Band Dircctor

Pror. J. S. Tavior
Glee Club Director

Figure 2. Picture from the 1924 Wolverine, Yearbook of MAC. Glee Club.
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During the summer of 1922 the Board of Agriculture increased music’s
appropriation to $8100 and approved the hiring of a new staff person in piano,
Gertrude Clark. Taylor was so busy now that A. J. Clark of the Chemistry
Department again took over the band. Taylor had required all 50 band
members to take private lessons, but 90 students were enrolied in band
instrument lessons, showing that interest was wider on campus than just the
band members. Taylor and Clark organized a number of joint band and glee
club concerts. In March 1923 the first attempt to broadcast live music over the
radio from the college occurred.

In 1923, the first graduate of MAC to achieve a musical career gave a
benefit concert on campus. Mary Allen, ‘09, a home economics major, gave a
voice recital to help provide funds for the new Student Union.

Mrs. Olive Dobson Henkel was appointed Instructor in Voice in October,
1923. Taylor hired her during a process of steady expansion that also allowed
music to be recognized as a minor. The course offerings did not change, but the
1923-24 catalog stated that entrance to the four-year course in music would be
by examination.

A unique use of music as a morale builder was encoutered during the
excavation for the Union Building, which was done by student and faculty
volunteers. Band members played daily to help the diggers pass the time. A
clown band was formed, known as the Swartz Creek Band, and they
entertained at lunch time.

According to Albert LeBlanc, MSU professor of music education, clown
bands were very popular in the twenties. Unfortunately, the members at MAC
did not take good care of the school instruments, which led to the demise of the

group.
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Figure 3. Clown Band from 1924 Wolverine, Yearbook of MAC.

The high school band tournament was continued. Six bands competed in
the spring of 1924, but ten entered the following year. The judges were H. A.
Vandercook of Chicago, Professor J. S. Taylor of MAC, and Carl H. Dewey,
director of the Reo Motor Car Company Band. Each band played one march
selected by the committee and one number of its own choice.

In 1924, the creation of a new liberal arts course granting an AB degree
still did not change the music offerings. Five hundred sixty eight students were
enrolled in music courses, with voice the most popular class. Two new
instructors were hired, and four rooms in the Home Economics Building were
used to help deal with the space problem. Professor A.J. Clark resigned as
band director, since his Chemistry duties had become increasingly demanding.
Carl Kulhrman replaced him as band director and reorganized the college drum

and bugle corps. Kulhman also continued the high school band tournament.
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The MSC Record (MAC changed its name to Michigan State College in
1925), September, 1926, lists Taylor's achievements as head of the music
department. After starting in 1919 as the only staff member with a few small
rooms in the gym, his department had grown to eight busy instructors training
almost 600 students and occupying the entire house just east of the Union plus

a half dozen more rooms in the Home Economics Building. He had convinced

the college not to charge extra fees to the music students and then arranged
free lessons for all ensemble members (Paul, 1979, p. 96). Students could even
major in music if the staff found them qualified. However, in the spring of 1927,
criticism of Kuhiman and the Swartz Creek (Clown) Band extended to the whole

department, since the students were abusing the instruments, and Taylor

resigned as chairman. He taught one more year.
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CHAPTER FIVE
THE LEWIS RICHARDS ERA (1927-1940)

Lewis Richards, an internationally known harpsichordist and pianist, was
appointed head of the Department of Music in 1927. This appointment reflected
an administrative decision to offer music training for professional careers and
concert work (Paul,1979, p. 99). Richards’ office was in the Home Economics
Building.

Among Richards’ first acts were the appointment of Arthur Farwell, Hope
Halliday, and Leonard Falcone to the music faculty. Arthur Farwell was a noted
composer and conductor, and his responsibilities were history, music
appreciation, harmony, advanced harmony, orchestra, and chorus. Hope
Halliday, daughter of the Secretary of the College H. H. Halliday, taught the first
courses in public school music. These were brand new courses. Leonard
Falcone came from Ann Arbor, where he had graduated from the University of
Michigan in 1926. Both the University of Michigan and Michigan State College
wanted either Leonard or Nicholas Falcone, his brother, as band director.
Nicholas, the elder brother, was already married and established in Ann Arbor,
so Leonard, who was single, made the move to East Lansing. As ‘Director of
Bands, Leonard Falcone received a salary of $2000.

Myron D. Welch, an MSU graduate who wrote his PhD dissertation on
Leonard Falcone, told this story, which Wilson Paul quoted. Falcone said:

| shall always remember the first rehearsal | had with the band.
The band sounded so bad that it was one of the most
disheartening experiences of my life up to that point. | was just
beside myself after that rehearsal and | told myself that | just can’t

associate myself with this group - it's impossible. So the next day
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| went to see Mr. Halliday, the man who had engaged me. | said,
“Mr. Halliday, I'm sorry, but the band is so bad that | just can’t
continue. | want to resign. | cannot possibly take the band to
Ann Arbor in three weeks for the annual football game and

compare it with the fine band at the University of Michigan.”

Mr. Halladay listened patiently, and when | finished he said,
“Leonard, | sympathize with your feelings, but let me tell you
something. Michigan State is still a small school, but it is well
known, and if you quit now you won't be able to get a job

anywhere because you are a quitter. The unwritten rule is that

anybody has to stay on the job for at least two years. If anyone
quits before they give a job a good chance, no one will put any

confidence in you.”

| said, “My God, two years! How can | possibly live through two
years of this sort of thing?” Secretary Halladay then went on to
say: “Secondly, that is why we brought you here, because we want
this band to improve. Otherwise we would have brought anybody.
| don’t care how badly they play. Everybody understands this, but |
can tell from your attitude that they won't be this way all the time -
you are going to do something about it. So don'’t give up. As a
matter of fact, | don't think | would accept your resignation anyway.
Stay at least two years, then if you still feel the same way you can
go. By then you'll be able to find a better job” (Paul, 1979, p.185).

Falcone later said that he did not realize how bad a first rehearsal could sound

35




(e
e o L
O

(TN
ne nama

-z »
tevrm T v -

»~a

Soare o,
Wepu @

PAra .

ralen .
- e =

o

-




and that he was tempted to resign every year after a first rehearsal (Paul, 1979,
p.185).

Other new instructors were Gladys Hodges, violin; Elsa B. Hoertz, harp;
and Philip Abbas, cello and ensemble. Abbas played in the Detroit Symphony
and came to East Lansing every Tuesday.

Richards had all school-owned instruments repaired and all materials
inventoried. The band finally became part of the Music Department, not the
military. The number of faculty was increased from six to twelve over the next
few years, and courses in Appreciation of Music, History of Music, Public School
Music, Cello, Harp, Chamber Music and Band Instruments were added.
Richards invited public school music contests to be held at MSC, and most
importantly arranged a relationship between MSC and the Lansing Public
Schools regarding practice teaching.

Enrollment in music courses rose to 1,313 during Richards’ first year, an
increase of more than 200 percent (Paul, 1979, p.104). Piano and voice were
most popular with 178 and 180 students each. Performance activities also
increased markedly. The orchestra gave nine public performances, and the new
chorus gave eight, both directed by Farwell, while the Men’s Glee Club, directed
by Taylor, gave six. The Military Band, directed by Leonard Falcone, made 39
Public appearances.

According to The Record (1940), the music staff operated in five
bu“di“gs: the nursery, old Abbot Hall, Gym Annex (the old Armory), Olds Hall,
and the old Weather Bureau. Richards was very proud when the National

Association of Schools of Music (NASM) accredited the school in 1934.
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John Gould Mary Rohn L. B. Falcor

BAND UNIT

The Military Band has always been the pride of the Mili
the Student Body. This year, as in past years, the band
manner that sends a thrill of pride through every heart, from the football games
in the fall to the military reviews of the spring term. Under the direction of
L. B. Falcone the band has given concerts both at home and away. Mr. Falcone
is undoubtedly one of the best band directors in the country and was an official
at the National Band Tournament.

ry Di
performed in a

ion and of

John Gould was outstanding this year as the Drum-Major.
The co-ed sponsor for the year was Mary Rohn.

Figure 4. Picture from 1928 Wolverine, Yearbook of MSC. Drum major,

co-ed sponsor, Leonard Falcone.

37




ANV

ALISMVA

Figure 5. Varsity Band. Picture from 1928 Wolverine.
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A 1927-

In 1928 the MSC Department of Music and the Lansing Conservatory
decided to merge. They became the Michigan State Institute of Music and Allied
Ants. Fred Killeen, who had retumed to Lansing in 1925 as director of the
Lansing Conservatory, became assistant director of the Institute with Richards
as director. Classes took place at the Conservatory Building in Lansing and in
the old Weather Bureau building on campus. Wills House, which still stands,
became the new Weather Bureau building, and the old one was renovated for
music. Students who passed entrance exams received instruction free, whereas
everyone else paid.

Richards was able to bring to the school for the 1928-29 year Louis
Graveure, as head of the vocal department, and Michael Press, as head of the
violin department. Both were internationally famous. Richards also added
courses in orchestral instruments and organ. The high calibre faculty resulted in
high calibre students, who were much in demand as entertainers in the
community. On February 6, 1929, the first faculty recital was presented to a
standing-room only crowd in the gym.

Louis Graveure had the distinction, after 14 years as a baritone concert
singer, of becoming a tenor. He was equally successful in this role. He was
allowed one term free for concert work, and his summer master class drew
students from all over the country. One student was Ramon Navarro, a movie
star, who spent two months on campus. Graveure went to Europe in the fall of
1931 and just before Christmas he wired that he was not returning. Alexander
Kisselburgh, one of Graveure’s best known students, was hired to replace him.
Graveure, who was the first full-time voice instructor, did not formally resign until

the summer of 1932. Fred Patton became head of the voice department that fall.
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Figure 6. Michigan State Institute of Music, Wolverine, 1929.
In 1931, an announcement was made that Bachelor of Music degrees in

piano, voice, organ, stringed instruments and public school music would be
granted beginning the following year. Previously only Bachelor of Arts degrees
in Public School Music had been granted. Both BA’s and BM'’s were granted in
Public School Music through 1938, when the BM became the only degree a
Student could eam in Public School Music.
Eighty student recitals were given in 1930-31 and 88 were given the
f°"°"Vil'\g year. Concerts were held at Peoples Church, the Little Theater in the

Home Economics Building, and beginning in 1931, in Abbot Hall, a dormitory
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with a small 65-seat concert hall. (This Abbot Hall became the Music Practice
Building when the current Abbot Hall was built.) Concerts were also held off
campus, especially in the Lansing Eastern High School Auditorium.

The business affairs of the new Institute were so complicated that a
business manager was hired to keep track of finances. Robert J. Coleman came
from the RCA-Victor Talking Machine Company in New Jersey. In 1931,

Richards was appointed American Director of the Salzburg Mozarteum, a
prestigious summer music festival. Four MSC faculty members taught at the
1932 Salzburg Festival, along with Bruno Walter, Josef Lhevinne, and Herbert
von Karajan, to name the most famous. From MSC went Louis Richards,
Michael Press, Alexander Schuster, cellist, and Alexander Kisselburgh, voice.
This was a very prestigious group of teachers. However, an executive of the
festival used funds deposited by the American delegation to pay his personal
debts, which resulted in cancellation of the festival after the first season.

Mr. Coleman’s daughter, Sue Johnson, told of her father taking the
remaining money to deposit in Switzerland so that nothing more would happen
to it.* Mrs. Johnson has also donated her father's collection of memorabilia from
the trip to the School of Music. Of particular interest is the brochure for The
Salzburg Orchestral Academy. The cost of the course was $360, which included

found trip steamship fare (tourist class) from New York, railroad transportation in
E“'Ope, board and lodging for eight full weeks in Salzburg, practice piano,
admissions to student recitals and two tickets per week to the Salzburg Music
Festiva). Private lessons and extra courses required an additional fee. Among

the Students on the trip were Josephine Kackley and Fred Killeen.

\
g:.;;e“"ﬁw with Sue Johnson. Douglas Johnson, a son of Mr. and Mrs. Richard Johnson,
in g Uated from the MSU School of Music in 1985 and is currently a professional jazz piano player
OSton,
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Figu"e 7. From Sue Johnson. Brochure of Salzburg Academy.
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When Richards retumed home, he found that he was being attacked
about funding irregularities of the Institute. Five citizens of Ingham County asked
that a grand jury investigate charges regarding a number of financial
transactions of MSC, including some leveled at the Institute. Charges were that
the Institute used campus buildings, received fees from the college for student

lessons, and profited in other ways (Kuhn,1955, p. 341). Expenditures for music
had increased from $12,000 a year to almost $48,000 since the Institute began.
The enroliment had averaged 616 students a year. Judge Leland Carr of
Ingham County, who was a one-man grand jury for the affair, found no violation
of statutes. However, the Department of Music separated itself from the Institute
after the 1932-33 season, and was completely reorganized during the 1933-34
school year (Paul, 1979, p.123). According to Kuhn (1955), the reorganization
did not result in loss of any funds. Music remained in fifth place in all

departments. Only chemistry, home economics, English, and men’s physical

education had larger budgets.
Choruses (1927-40)
In the fall of 1933 Fred Patton became director of the MSC Chorus and

Men’s Gilee Club. Patton was especially successful with Men'’s Glee Club. By
1938 he presented a Minstrel Show in the new Band Shell in conjunction with
the new Sinfonia men's music fraternity. The Band Shell was located across
from the College Auditorium, but was razed for the construction of Bessey Hall.
Some of the faculty were appalled at the idea of a Minstrel Show, thinking that
Men's Gilee should stick to their traditional concerts. Secretary John H. Hannah
felt that those faculty were worried that the show would make fun of them. ®

The Women's Glee Club, formally established by Louise Freyhofer in 1902, and

5
sh:;:vday's reader might think that the faculty was appalled at the racial stereotyping of the minstrel
» but unfortunately that was not a concem at that time. Faculty were only worried about their

'®Putationg
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conducted by her until 1919, suffered a peculiar fate under Professor J. S.
Taylor. Since he used both the Men’s and Women'’s Glee Clubs as the nucleus
of the mixed chorus, the Women'’s Glee lost its autonomy in the 1920’s. From
1922 to the spring of 1928 there is no record of the Women'’s Glee Club. In
1928, Betty Humphrey, assistant to Louis Graveure, reorganized the women.
The State News, November 23, 1928, stated:
Great interest has been displayed in the development of a Girls’
Glee Club on the campus since its formation here a few weeks
ago. Upon completion of the tryouts Tuesday night, 68 girls had
been accepted. Membership is still open to seven or eight more
girls as it is the club’s ambition to exceed the University of
Michigan, which now totals 70 (Paul, p. 140).°
In the spring of 1929, the first May Moming Sing was instituted and held
at Beaumont Tower. Lewis Richards modeled this after a similar one at the
tower of Oxford University in England. At MSC the ceremony also involved the
tapping of Mortar Board and Tower Guard members. Mortar Board was the
senior women's Honorary Society, and Tower Guard was the honorary society
for sophomore women.

In 1930 Zinovy Kogan, instructor in violin and conducting, became
director of the Women'’s Glee Club. In June 1932, all the college choruses plus
facuity rmembers and singers from the community presented Haydn's Creation
to commemorate the 200th anniversary of Haydn'’s birth and the 75th
an"i"ef‘szatry of the college. One of the pianists for this performance was a
Student, wendell Westcott, who later became carilloneur for MSC as well as a

facuny Mmember in music. The next spring all the choruses presented the opera

Orpheus, by Gluck, at the Lansing Eastem High School Auditorium. Music,

(]
The Current rivalry between University of Michigan and Michigan State has a long history.
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Speech and Dramatics, English, Art, Physical Education and Home Economics
collaborated for this event. Orpheus was also presented in Detroit . In the
following year, 1933, Josephine Kackley, head of the Public School Music
Department, became director of Women’s Glee Club.

William Kimmel organized a no-credit a cappella choir during the winter
quarter of 1936, consisting of students, faculty and community members
interested in the historical aspects of choral music (Paul, p.148). The choir
became quite popular both on campus and around the state. Kimmel became
director of the Chorus and Men’s Glee Club in the winter of 1939. His first
performance was at the May Moming Sing.

Mendelssohn’s Elijjah was the next all-department large production in
the spring of 1937, directed by Patton. In December of 1937 Michigan State’s
first production of Handel's Messiah was given in the college gymnasium, also
directed by Patton. Due to ill health, Patton gave up his choral work, which was
taken over by William Kimmel, instructor in theory and director of the a cappella
choir. Patton stayed on as voice teacher and also led community sings. Patton
said his greatest thrill was getting 15,000 farmers to sing old favorites like
America and Down By the Old Mill Stream during Farmers’ Week (Paul, p.148).
Farmers’ Week was the occasion for many musical performances over the
years. It would be interesting to know how these were received by the farmers,
or if they were used as a captive audience.

Collegium Musicum (1927-40)

In the fall of 1936, Lewis Richards announced a “Collegium Musicum”
series, directed by Leonard Ellinwood, which was the second of these programs
in the United States (Paul, p. 156). The intent was to reproduce old music as it

would have been performed at the time in its social context. Library exhibits of
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the manuscripts were coordinated with the programs, and discussions followed
the ten different presentations. The series continued into the 1940’s with at least
three programs per year. The featured speaker for a program in 1940 held in
the new Music Auditorium was Dom Anselm Hughes, Prior of Nashdom Abbey
in England, who was a world authority on early music.

Orchestra (1927-40)

In 1928, Michael Press, an eminent Russian violinist and conductor,
joined the violin department. A number of his pupils followed him to Michigan
State, including lzler Solomon and Ralph Rose, who became aides. Michael
Press had escaped a firing squad during the Bolshevik Revolution (Paul,
p.163). The following year Zinovy Kogan, another exiled Russian violinist and
conductor, was appointed to assist him. In 1930 Josef and Rosina Lhevinne
came to Michigan State for a concert, thus uniting four friends from Russia.
Because Press and Kogan were so famous, they could attract musicians of the
highest caliber to campus. Josef Lhevinne died in 1944, but Rosina kept
teaching at Juilliard School of Music until she retired at age 95 in 1977. Rosina
coached Van Clibum when he won the Tchaikowsky Piano Competition in
1955, and she later coached MSU'’s Ralph Votapek.

In 1929 another Russian, Alexander Schuster, arrived to replace cello
instructor Philip Abbas. Schuster was already a famous concert artist in Europe.
The orchestra, directed by Farwell and Press, gave two performances that year:
one to introduce the new faculty and one for Baccalaureate. The next year the
orchestra presented a full program at the Lansing Eastem High School
auditorium, since there was no auditorium on campus. Izler Solomon was
concert master, Alexander Schuster played first cello, Zinovy Kogan played first

viola, and Leonard Falcone was leader of the second violins. It is ironic that
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MSU could have such famous faculty but no auditorium.

John D. Stephens, head of Music Education at the Institute, had
organized the Lansing Symphony at this time, but could not conduct due to
iliness. Izler Solomon became the conductor in March of 1932. MSU has
always had a close relationship with the Lansing Symphony. Throughout the
history of the School of Music, it has maintained close ties with the orchestra,
sharing personnel, and even at times combining to offer a position in each
organization in order to make a full-time job.

The college orchestra was part of a concert series for the next several
years. In 1936 all concerts were given at the Lansing Eastem High School
auditorium instead of the college gymnasium. Hans Lange, associate conductor
of the Chicago Symphony, joined the faculty in 1937. Michael Press was ill, so
Lange replaced him on a part-time basis. Lange taught violin and conducted
five rehearsals before each concert. The other rehearsals were conducted by
Keith Stein, clarinet professor, and Leonard Ellinwood, professor of theory.
Alexander Schuster became director of the orchestra the next year. Francis
Aranyi, a famous Hungarian violinist, commuted from Pittsburgh one day a
week to teach violin and sonata classes. Schuster’s three concerts in 1938, one
each term, each featured a soloist: 1) a Russian cellist; 2) Efrem Zimbalist,
violinist, and 3) Francis Aranyi. In the spring of 1940 the orchestra made its first
appearance in the new College Auditorium with Arthur Schnabel, pianist.

Bands (1927-40)

Under Leonard Falcone the marching band remained part of the college
Reserve Officers Training Corps (ROTC) program and wore military khaki and
olive uniforms during the 1930’s and 1940’s. Besides playing for football
games, it also p<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>